e HALTON

slingeelunelin CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

Promoting City, Coast & Countryside




CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

This appraisal has been prepared on behalf of Lancaster City Council by:

The Conservation Studio
1 Querns Lane
Cirencester

THE

CONSERVATION Gloucestershire
STUDIO GL7 1RL
ARCHITECTURE FOR 01285 642428

THE HISTORIC BUILT
ENVIRONMENT

www.theconservationstudio.co.uk

Lancaster City Council
HALTON



CONTENTS

1.0 Introduction and summary of special interest

2.0 Location and setting

3.0 The historical development of the conservation area

4.0 The character and appearance of the conservation area

5.0 The buildings of the conservation area

6.0 Negative features and issues

APPENDICES

1 Glossary

2 Further information

3 References

) k. o~ 3 5223 <
J ‘,\ i f Slot /' J‘l‘t’ﬂyﬂar \-,-"!Jf
a .{' % 01)1% Vel f"""’*’";f»m

nrdzlfﬂr'f g il 2 -/rw Py ! }

i NS
/ - - R e T—"" \ N
. - ‘ _,.-’)‘ , N (P

t," _I’ i

# Ny
/' }'
* ‘ .

A\ ':f sf'
AR /-’"

e .

Yates’ map of 1786

11

15

19



CONSERVATION AREAS

Conservation Areas are defined as:

‘Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’

Section 69 - Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

There are about 9,300 conservation areas in England and Wales. The
designations include the historic centres of most cities, towns and
villages.

The effects of designation are:

. Conservation Area Consent is required for the demolition of
buildings, with a few minor exceptions;

. Formal notice must be given to the local authority for six weeks
before any work is undertaken to lop, top or fell any trees larger than
a minimal size. This allows the Council to consider whether the tree
should be preserved.

. Permitted development rights are more restricted with an Article 4
Direction;
. Local authorities must pay special attention to the preservation of the

character of the conservation area when considering any planning
proposals that might affect it;

. Extra publicity must be given to planning applications affecting
conservation areas. This is usually achieved through
advertisements in the local newspaper.

For futher information on the law and policy relating to conservation areas,
please contact the Conservation Team at Lancaster City Council - see
Appendix 2.

Consultation and adoption

The first draft was posted on the Council’'s website: www.lancaster.gov.uk/
CAAs with hard copies made available to view at Lancaster and Morecambe
Town Halls.

Public consultation ran for 28 days following an initial launch at the Halton
Youth and Community Centre on Wednesday 18th February 2009.

Following final amendment, the appraisal was considered by the
Planning Policy Cabinet Liaison Group on 30th July 2009 and it received
Management Team approval on 13th November 2009.

Final approval was given by Individual Cabinet Member Decision on the
20th November 2009 with an implementation date (following call-in period)
of 4th December 2009.
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INTRODUCTION

Halton is a compact former agricultural and industrial settlement that is now
primarily a residential community. It has seen several significant phases as
a Saxon manor, a mediaeval agricultural settlement, an industrial village in
the 18th and 19th centuries and, more recently, a provider of housing.

The earthworks of the castle still dominate at the centre of the village, with
the nucleus of historic buildings around the much re-built church below.
There is also the linear stretch of housing along High Road that includes
important evidence of the agricultural economy. It is remarkable, however,
that very little survives of the ironworks on Foundry Lane or of the large
complex of textile mills that once occupied a half mile frontage to the River
Lune.

The conservation area contains 20 listed buildings, which include high
quality details, such as gatepiers, as well as significant buildings. The
special historic and architectural interest of the conservation area is
confirmed by the fact that almost all of the buildings along Church Brow and
High Road are listed buildings or buildings of special character.

The Halton Conservation Area was first designated in 1981 by Lancashire
County Council under provisions that are now contained in Section 69 of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. This
defines a conservation area as ‘an area of special architectural or historic
interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or
enhance’.

The Manor House, listed buiding




1.5 Inresponse to government guidance on best practice, this appraisal
defines and records the special architectural and historic interest of
the Halton Conservation Area. These features are also marked on the
Townscape Appraisal Map that accompanies this written commentary.
While the descriptions go into some detail, it should not be assumed
that the omission of any characteristic, such as a building, view or open
space, from this appraisal means that it is not of interest.

1.6 Section 72 of the same Act specifies that, in making a decision on an
application for development within a conservation area, special attention
must be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character
or appearance of that area.

1.7 This document provides a firm basis on which applications for

development within the Halton Conservation Area can be assessed. It
should be read in conjunction with the policies of the adopted local plan.

Summary of special interest

1.8 The special interest that justifies the designation of the Halton
Conservation Area can be summarised as follows:

e Origins as an important Anglo-Saxon manor held by Earl Tostig,
brother of King Harold;

e Earthworks of 11th century castle;

e Unplanned linear mediaeval layout along High Road and Church
Brow parallel with the River Lune;

e Architectural and historic interest of the area’s buildings,
including 20 listed buildings;

*  Major listed buildings include the Manor House, Clock House,
Tower House and Townend Farm;

e Further buildings of interest include 17th century farmhouses
and the Victorian St Wilfred’s Hall;

e 16th century tower of St Wilfred's Church, otherwise rebuilt by
E G Paley of Lancaster in 1876;

* Prevalent use of locally quarried building stone for buildings and
boundary walls;

e Prosperous agricultural community in the 17th century;
e Significance of iron working in the 18th century;

e Also, major production of cotton and oilcloth in the 18th and 19th
centuries;

e Influence of the railway after 1846;

e Landscape setting of the Lune valley with extensive rural views;
e Important treescape along the Lune and to the north of Castle Hill;
*  Small details that help to define local identity, such as small

areas of stone setts and cobbles, decorative datestones, stone
gatepiers and the war memorial.
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2.0 LOCATION AND SETTING

Location

2.1 Halton is located in north Lancashire, some 5km (3 miles) east of
Lancaster, reached by way of Halton Road which follows the north bank
of the River Lune and continues as High Road. Historically, this was the
road from Lancaster to Kirby Lonsdale. It can also be reached from the
A683 by Low Road which crosses the river by Penny Bridge at the Crook
of Lune.

2.2 The village occupies steeply rising land on the north side of the Lune
with the wooded valley of Cote Beck running northwards. Itis also close
to the M6 motorway which passes immediately to the west.

Boundary

2.3 The boundary of the Halton Conservation Area was drawn to include
Castle Hill with St Wilfrid’s Church to the south west, Foundry Lane and
St Wilfrid’s Hall to the north, and properties on High Road to the east.
South of High Road, the boundary includes a significant belt of trees on
rising land above the allotments, and then Low Road with the important
buildings of Manor House and Townend Farm.

2.4 The southern boundary is the former railway line on the south bank of
the River Lune from the M6 bridge up to Halton Weir.

View down Church Brow with Castle Hill to the right

Lancaster City Council 3
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2.5 The boundary has been reviewed as part of the appraisal and it is
proposed that a small extension should be added on the south side of
High Road to include the late 19th and early 20th century houses up to
No.86.

2.6 Since the conservation area was designated, houses have been built
at The Gardens on the north side of St Wilfred’s Hall. The boundary
now runs through these properties and it is proposed that it should be
amended to follow their south side in order to address this anomaly.

2.7 The proposed boundary changes are illustrated in detail on the
Townscape Appraisal Map that accompanies this written appraisal.

High Road

4 Lancaster City Council
HALTON




2.8

2.9

2.10

211
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Topography and landscape setting

As the street names — Low Road and High Road — imply, Halton occupies
a hillside as the land rises in terraces from the bank of the River Lune. This
pattern is cut through by the cleft of Cote Beck running north of Castle Hill.

Historically, the village was not particularly orientated towards the river and
only made use of it for industry. It was only in the 1930s that the houses
built in the former gardens of Halton Hall addressed the picturesque qualities
of the Lune.

Halton is just outside the boundary of the Forest of Bowland Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty and this provides the background for dramatic
views from the higher vantage points across the Lune valley. The
surrounding landscape is largely lowland agriculture with a characteristic
patchwork of small fields. It is an open landscape with little woodland, which
makes the tree-lined Lune and Dale Wood to the west of Foundry Lane, all
the more important.

Less welcome is the M6 motorway, which is a major feature that intrudes
into the nearby landscape. To the north and east of the village core, there
are also extensive areas of relatively modern housing.

Geology

The underlying solid geology of the area consists of carboniferous
sandstone and Millstone grit, which provide the materials for buildings and
boundary walls. They are overlain by the alluvium of the river valley and, on
higher ground, by boulder clay and glacial till.

CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

View across the Lune Valley

Lancaster City Council
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Church of St Wilfrid

2.13

2.14

2.15

Archaeology

The discovery of a Roman ‘altar’ in the area indicates early settlement,
but Halton’s historical significance is the Anglo-Saxon manor that led

to the construction of the 11th century castle. The earthworks survive,
although fortification was abandoned in the 12th century when local pre-
eminence passed to Lancaster. The period is also represented by the
Saxon remains of the Halton Cross, which survives in the present day
churchyard. Both Castle Hill and the Halton Cross are scheduled ancient
monuments.

Clearly, with evidence of continuous settlement in the area of the
castle for some nine centuries, it is highly likely that there are further
archaeological discoveries to be made. This is particularly true for the
industrial development of the 18th and 19th centuries of which so little
built evidence survives.

Many of the buildings within the conservation area are themselves of
archaeological interest, and are likely to retain evidence of their age, use
and construction that is only likely to be uncovered during building work.

Lancaster City Council
HALTON



3.0 THE HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE

3.1

3.2

3.3

CONSERVATION AREA

Before the Norman Conquest, Halton was a place of considerable
importance. It was at the centre of a large manor held by Earl Tostig
who was the brother of King Harold. In 1086, it was assessed in the
Domesday survey as six ploughlands. A ploughland being the amount
that could be managed by one ploughing team, the manor would have
amounted to some 600 acres.

The evidence of this importance survives in the earthworks of the 11th
century castle, which retains its motte and bailey form at the centre of the
village. There is also a Saxon cross, dating from the 11th century, which
stands in the churchyard where it was re-erected in 1891.

After the Conquest, pre-eminence passed to Lancaster, which was
preferred by Count Roger of Poitou, the new Lord of the Honour of
Lancaster. As the stone keep of Lancaster Castle was built in the mid-
12th century, so the fortification of Halton Castle was abandoned.

Earthworks of the 11th century castle



Bradshaw mausoleum

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

St Wilfrid’s Church is said to pre-date the Conquest, although the earliest
records date from 1190. It was extensively repaired in the 14th century,
rebuilt in 1792 and again in 1876 to designs by the Lancaster architects
Paley and Austin. Of the earlier work, only the tower survives, perhaps
from the 16th century.

While Halton has a long history, the Victoria County History describes it
as ‘uneventful’. Certainly, during the post-mediaeval period, the lords of
the manor and the rectors were largely absent, leaving Halton to a quiet
rural existence. This no doubt suited the Carus family who acquired the
manor in the 17th century and were investigated as recusant Catholics.

Christopher Carus was regarded as a Jacobite in 1690 and when the
Jacobite army reached Kirby Lonsdale in 1715, it is said that ‘Esquire
Carus and his two sons, Thomas and Christopher, all Papists, who lived
at Halton Hall, joined them and gave information of the unprepared state
of Lancaster.’

The 17th century was evidently not without prosperity. Townend
Farmhouse (1672), Field Cottage (1679) and the Manor House (1695)
are typical of substantial properties built during the period.

In 1748, the manor was acquired by William Bradshaw and it remained
in the family for almost a century. The substantial Bradshaw mausoleum
was built on the north side of the church in 1775, although the church
was probably smaller then.
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3.9

3.10

3.11

Lancaster City Council

Mill workers’ housing in Low Road

The rural character of Halton changed in the mid-18th century in
response to the industrial revolution. In 1753, a blast furnace and
foundry were established in what is now Foundry Lane. This later
became a bobbin mill but now there is little evidence of industry in the
wooded valley of the Cote Beck other than the names of properties, such
as Furnace Cottage.

The Lune had already been used to power a corn mill, but in the late
18th century, a cotton mill was opened and this was the start of a large
industrial complex that stretched along half a mile of the river bank. It
was powered by a mill race that ran parallel with the river from Forge
Weir to Halton Bridge driving large undershot waterwheels. By 1826
there were several mill buildings and twelve cottages.

The first edition of the Ordnance Survey shows a flour mill, a cotton
factory and, importantly, a gasometer — The introduction of gas lighting
enabled round-the-clock shift work.

CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL
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3.12

3.14

3.15

3.16

In 1848, a railway was built along the south side of the Lune and the
station and a large goods-shed that served Halton still survive. They
were not directly connected to the village, however, until the construction
of Halton Bridge in 1913.

The mills were one of the largest industrial developments in the Lune
Valley. In 1817, they even attracted investment by Samuel Gregg,
famous for his Quarry Bank cotton mills at Styal. The mills continued

to develop, adding a brick chimney and boiler house for steam power,
and lasted well into the 20th century. The complex survived the often
precarious economics of the area by adapting to produce oilcloth,
leathercloth and latterly coconut matting. Most of the buildings survived
until the 1980s, but now there is very little evidence other than, again, the
streetnames: Mill Lane and Forge Lane.

The effect of industrialisation on the village was the construction of
houses in High Road and Low Road in addition to those that were built
on the mill sites. An early example of the terraced form associated
with industrial growth can be seen behind Nos.21-25 High Road. The
population of Halton, which had been 776 in 1811, peaked at 1027 in
1821. After that a slow decline in manufacturing set in.

The 20th century saw the intensification of housing within the historic
village. The 1930s villas built in the former gardens of Halton Hall were
the first to exploit the picturesque qualities of the river while Riverside
Close continued the colonisation of the river margins. Since the 1950s
and ‘60s, larger housing developments have added considerably to

the north and east of the village as travel to Lancaster became easier.
Between 1951 and 1971, the population rose again by 150%.

Halton Bridge

10
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4.0 THE CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE OF THE

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

CONSERVATION AREA

Townscape analysis

The historic route through Halton follows the line of Church Brow and
High Road. The centre is dominated by the presence of Castle Hill.
Clustered below it, St Wilfrid’s Church, the site of the former Halton Hall
and the White Lion Hotel are the legacy of the early settlement.

Development was historically sporadic along the linear form to suit
farming practice. The spaces between the farmhouses were gradually
infilled with small groups and then terraces of houses. On High Road,
the houses are all on the north side to start with, as the land falls away
steeply to the south precluding development. The exception is the Old
School, which makes the most of a landmark position. As High Road
curves uphill, it becomes possible to build on both sides, first with the
former Police Station and the congregational Chapel, and then with
housing.

Low Road connects Halton to the Penny Bridge at the Crook of Lune,
which was, historically, the first crossing point above Lancaster. Itis
punctuated particularly by the imposing Manor House and Townend
Farm, which form a pinch point at the entrance to the village.

Buildings do not exceed two storeys and roof pitches tend to run parallel
with the street frontages. However, actual building heights are varied
and enliven the townscape.

Gaps in the built form are the result of farming practices that came right
into the village or of the steep and undevelopable topography. This

has resulted in a very informal appearance of buildings that often do
not address the line of the street directly. By contrast, the terraces are
more formal, generally set back behind small front gardens. The earlier
rows on Low Road are built to the back of the pavement and this will be
indicative of the industrial housing that no longer survives.

Focal points, views and vistas

These are shown on the Townscape Appraisal Map. The steep slope
and strategic location of Halton afford wide ranging views across the
landscape of the Lune Valley. This can be appreciated particularly from
Foundry Lane above Castle Hill and from High Road.

The picturesque qualities of the river can be appreciated from Halton
Bridge upstream from which is Halton Weir were a variety of water birds
tend to congregate. From the south bank, there are good views to the
Boat House and the riverside villas below Church Brow.

Within the village, the sinuous nature of the streets means that views
tend to unfold particularly as Church Brow winds round St Wilfrid’s
Church and Castle Hill. However, views down High Road bring the
church tower and the War Memorial into prominence.




4.9 The conservation area’s most distinctive and representative views are
marked on the Townscape Appraisal Map. These are:

A — Views from Foundry Lane across the Lune Valley.

B — Views from High Road across the Lune Valley.

C — Views along the Lune from Halton Bridge.

D — Views of the village from the south bank of the river.

Current activities and uses

4.10 Halton has been significant as an administrative centre with its
castle, as an agricultural centre and as a focus for industry, but these
functions have ceased and the Halton Conservation Area is now largely
residential.

4.11 Many buildings are no longer in their original use. The barn and stables
to the former Halton Hall are now part of the Tower House, St Wilfred’s
Hall is a nursing home, the farm buildings at Townend farm are being
converted for residential use, and the barn Houghton Court is now a
Roman Catholic chapel.

4.12 The conservation area also includes St Wilfrid’'s Church and its extensive
churchyard, the Congregational Chapel, two public houses, a butcher’s
shop and a garage.

The White Lion Hotel



4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

High Road

On the south side of the river, the former railway line is now a pathway
that is popular with walkers and cyclists exploring the Lune Valley.

Traffic is generally light, although there is a significant amount of through
traffic that follows Foundry lane and Low Road in order to cut across to
Penny Bridge. High Road is often lined with parked cars.

Significant open spaces, landscape and trees

The boundary of the conservation has been drawn to include the historic
buildings of the village and areas of its industrial legacy. This includes
the significant area of Castle Hill and the churchyard below.

Dale Wood in the valley created by Cote Beck to the west of Foundry
Lane is an important woodland resource that masks the archaeology
of the 18th century ironworking. This is reciprocated by the extensive
grounds of St Wilfrid’s Hall on the east side of Foundry Lane.

There are grassed open spaces on the south side of High Road, either
side of the Old School. A further space including the walled paddock
beside Townend Farm enables the 17th century farmhouse and
surrounding barns to be appreciated.

There are important stands of trees on rising ground above the
allotments along Low Road and along the south bank of the Lune. Aline
of beeches creates a skyline above Church Brow opposite the riverside
villas, while a group of cedars line the north bank of the river on the
other side of them. Significant trees or tree groups are marked on the
Townscape Appraisal Map. However, lack of a specific reference does
not imply that a tree or group is not of value.



4.19

4.20
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4.22

4.23

4.34

4.35

Boundaries

The area is notable for the variety of stone boundary walls. These range
from rubble field walls to formal walls of cut and squared stone often
necessary as retaining walls in the sloping landscape. The churchyard
has particular examples.

There are also notable stone garden walls with stone gatepiers. The
best of the gatepiers are sufficiently important to warrant statutory listing
and, in the case of Halton Hall, they are all that remains of the earlier
building, other than the east wing and elements of Manor Lodge.

The gatepiers to the churchyard and to the former Halton Hall still have
their iron gates. The lychgate to the churchyard, while relatively recent,
provides a suitably formal entrance.

Public realm: floorscape, street lighting and street furniture

In general, the streets of Halton are of tarmac, which is a natural
successor to the vernacular metalled surfaces that would have preceded
them. They are lined with pavements, also of tarmac, with granite or
sandstone kerbs.

A major exception is outside the Manor House where a setted entrance
and yard survive with wide granite kerbs and a pavement of river
cobbles. While these surfaces may have been re-laid, they do give a
flavour of materials and detailing that would have been more widespread
in the past.

Street furniture is scarce as befits the functional nature of a rural
settlement. Street lights, in the form of slender steel columns, are
sparsely used. A short cast iron column with a Windsor lantern survives
on a gatepier to the south of the church.

The main area of seating is in the Jubilee Garden adjacent to the War
Memorial.



5.0

51

5.2

5.3

THE BUILDINGS OF THE CONSERVATION AREA

Materials, styles and detailing

The ample supply of local sandstone means that it is the most prevalent
building material, used almost exclusively for walling of buildings up to
the 20th century and for boundary walls. Stonework ranges from the
finely detailed ashlar of Nos.21-25 High Road, to more roughly dressed
but still squared stones, and those of coursed or uncoursed rubble
construction. The stone is normally left exposed but examples of a local
tradition of ‘slobbering’ (i.e. the application of an uneven render to a
rubblestone surface, nowadays often painted white) can be seen in, for
instance Rectory Cottages.

Early roofs were probably of stone slabs, but these are less common
now since the railway age brought plentiful slate from Wales. St Wilfrid’s
Church has a clay-tiled roof, which is characteristic of the work of Paley
and Austin.

Buildings dating from the 17th and 18th centuries were built in the local
vernacular tradition i.e. by local people using readily available materials
and constructed with locally known practices of stone building and
roofing. These buildings do not conform to a uniform architectural style,
although features, such as mullioned windows with drip mouldings,
gables with kneelers and copings, and ornate datestones, are common.

CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

Ornate datestone

Lancaster City Council
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Clock House

54

5.5

5.6

5.7

From the mid-18th century onwards, a degree of formality and classical
detailing enters the village. Typical of this are the Clock House, the
gatepiers to the former Halton Hall and the Bradshaw Mausoleum. The
stone tradition continued in the 19th century with houses that have
symmetrical frontages with doors in the middle bay. These were the
homes of the new businessmen. The Victorians also revived historical
styles, for instance with the return to mullioned windows at St Wilfrid’s
Hall and, indeed, the 14th century styling of the rebuilt church.

The industrialisation of the 19th century also saw the introduction of

the terrace to house artisan workers. Earlier examples are Nos.45-55
High Road and 19-33 Low Road. Towards the end of the 19th century,
terraces were enlivened with dormers and bay windows as at Nos.39-41
and Nos.22-54 High Road. The poorest houses were built back-to-back,
but none of these survive.

Most buildings are plain with plain squared door and window surrounds.
Earlier buildings may have chamfered stone mullions in their windows, or
traces of their having been removed. Small paned side-hung casement
windows would once have been common but many have been replaced.
From the early 19th century most buildings have vertical sliding sashes
and heavily moulded four-panelled doors.

A highly distinctive detail in Low Road are the cast iron rainwater
downpipes with their decorative barley-sugar twist pattern. Were these a
product of the local foundry?

16
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5.8 Chimneys are a feature of the old buildings. The changing levels of
Halton give plenty of opportunities to appreciate the lively roofscape of
chimney stacks, pots and gables. A number of fine date stones exist
in the village, some in distinctive ‘Lune Valley’ style, with a stepped or
castellated outline.

5.9 Inthe 20th century building styles became more universal and, although
the 1930s riverside villas are distinctive because of the location and
layout, they use imported designs and the smooth rendered finish made
popular by the International Modern style.

Listed heritage assets

5.10 Alisted heritage asset is a one that is included on the Government’s
Statutory List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest.
These buildings and structures are protected by law, as are all structures
within the curtilage of the main structure, and consent is required before
any works of alteration, extension or demolition can be carried out. Listed
heritage assets are marked on the Townscape Appraisal map. Most are
late 17th to late 19th century in origin and many have date stones, as well
as other features, such as doorcases, staircases, fireplaces, windows or
roof trusses that are typical of their period. These are:

e Church of St Wilfrid, Church Brow Grade Il
e Sundial, SE of St Wilfrid’s Church porch,

Church Brow Grade I
e  Bradshaw Mausoleum, Halton Churchyard,

Church Brow Grade |l
e Gatepiers to former Halton Hall,

Church Brow Grade I
e Archway to former Halton Hall,

Church Brow Grade |l
e Clock House and flanking walls,

Church Brow Grade I
e The Boat House, Church Brow Grade Il
e  Tower House, former stables and barn,

Church Brow Grade I
e  Gatepiers and gates to churchyard,

Church Street Grade |l
* No.l1 Rectory Cottages, Foundry Lane Grade Il
* No.2 Rectory Cottages, Foundry Lane Grade Il
*  Millers Farmhouse, 79 High Road Grade
 Field Cottage, 89 High Road Grade Il

e«  Barn 30m north of Pedders Farm,
High Road Grade I

e Lime Tree House, 111 High Road Grade Il



5.11

5.12

5.13

«  Town End Farmhouse, Low Road Grade Il

e Farm building east of Town End Farmhouse,
Low Road Grade I

¢  Manor House, Low Road Grade II*
e  Gatepiers west of Manor House, Low Road Grade Il

¢ White Lion Hotel and coach house,
Church Brow Grade Il

e  Gatepiers to churchyard south of
St Wilfrid’s Church Grade Il

Significant unlisted buildings

A number of unlisted buildings have been identified on the Townscape
Appraisal Map as being of ‘special character’. These are buildings
which, although not statutorily listed, make a positive contribution to the
area.

The ‘special character’ buildings vary, but commonly they will be good
examples of relatively unaltered historic buildings where their style,
detailing and building materials provide the streetscape with interest and
variety. Most importantly, they make a positive contribution to the special
interest of the conservation area. Historic buildings are normally included
under this heading unless they have been so heavily altered that the
changes are irreversible and restoration would be impractical. Historic
field boundaries are also generally regarded as positive.

Notable examples of buildings of special character are: St Wilfrid’s Hall,
the Congregational Chapel of 1898, the War Memorial, the Old School,
the railway station platform and goods shed, and Halton Bridge (1913).



6.0 NEGATIVE FEATURES AND ISSUES

6.1

6.2

Loss of original windows and doors

Some house owners have replaced original timber windows with uPVC
alternatives. A number of the historic buildings within the conservation
area also display timber door and window joinery which has been finished
with stains or varnishes rather than traditional paint. There are also
examples of the use of anachronistic styles, such as ‘Georgian’ style
doors in 19th-century cottages. These non-traditional doors and windows
severely erode the appearance and character of historic buildings, to the
detriment of the special interest of the conservation area.

Alterations to door and window openings

In some cases, door and window openings have been altered, for example
to create large wide windows in place of taller narrow ones. There are
also instances where buildings have been extended in a manner which
does not reflect the traditional design of the area’s buildings, or that uses
non-traditional construction materials. All of these have the effect of
detracting from the original character of the host buildings.

Modern alterations



Satellite dishes

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Modern installations: satellite dishes, rooflights, and alarm boxes

There are a number of instances where accretions such as satellite dishes
and alarm boxes have been made on the elevations or chimney stacks

of the historic buildings or where drainage pipes have been inserted in
prominent positions, or rooflights inserted into the principal roofslope.

Loss and alteration of traditional stone boundary walls

Stone boundary walls are an attractive feature of the conservation area
and are generally well maintained throughout the settlement. There is an
occasional loss of sections of walling through lack of maintenance and this
loss detracts from the character and appearance of the conservation area.

Buildings at Risk

Building condition in the conservation area is generally good. However, the
White Lion and adjacent coach house, listed grade Il, are currently vacant
and at risk of decay. The property above the White Lion, between Church
Brow and Church Lane, is significantly dilapidated and the retaining wall
(originally the frontage of workers’ cottages) is at risk of collapse.

Development

Permission was granted on appeal for a 3/4 storey building on the former
mill site adjacent to Halton Bridge. There may still be an opportunity to
seek a more appropriate development on this key gateway site.
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APPENDIX 1:

Appraisal

Carboniferous

Conservation area

Enhancement

Floorscape

Georgian

Heritage assets

Listed buildings

Medieval

Millstone Grit

Negative building

Nucleated village

Positive building

Public realm

Rubblestone

Saxon

Slobbered
Topography
Townscape
Turnpike

Victorian

GLOSSARY

Assessment of the special qualities of the area

Geological term for part of the Palaeozoic era about 290-350 million years ago.
This is the period that produced coal measures as well as limestone and sandstone

Defined in the Planning Acts as ‘areas of special architectural or historic interest
the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.’
Conservation areas are designated by the local planning authority

Actions to improve the qualities of, for instance, a conservation area

Surface materials, such as paving or tarmac

Historical and stylistic period relating to the reigns of King George I-1V (1714-1830)

Products of history that have cultural value. They include historic buildings and
structures, historic gardens, landscapes and townscapes

Defined in the Planning Acts as ‘buildings of special architectural or historic interest’
that are included on a list published by the government’s Department of Culture,
Media and Sport on the advice of English Heritage

Historical period of the middle ages. In England, this is commonly taken to be from
the Norman Conguest of 1066 to the Reformation of 1533

Geological term for a particularly hard, but coarse-grained, sandstone

A building that detracts from the character of a conservation area to the extent that
it would be preferable for it to be demolished or redeveloped. Negative issues can
often be seen as opportunities

Dense, tightly-defined settlement. The opposite of a dispersed settlement

A building that makes a positive contribution to the character of a conservation
area. Government policy includes a presumption that positive buildings will be
retained. All listed buildings are considered to be positive. Further buildings which,
although not listed, are considered to be positive are identified on the Townscape
Appraisal Map includes with each conservation area appraisal

Areas to which the public has general access. These include the public highway,
public footpaths and public open space

Unfinished stone used for building. Squared rubblestone is laid in courses but
still has a rough face

Historical period between the end of Roman rule in 410 and the Norman
Conquest in 1066

Uneven lime render applied to the rough surface of rubblestone walling
The arrangement of physical features in the local landscape

The relationship of buildings and spaces in an urban landscape

Toll roads of the 18th and 19th centuries

Historical and stylistic period relating to the reign of Queen Victoria (1837-1901)
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APPENDIX 2: FURTHER INFORMATION

The Conservation Team at Lancaster City Council are always interested in receiving further information or
updates in relation to conservation areas. They can also give advice on the repair and maintenance of
historic buildings and on the management of conservation areas:

Conservation Team
Regeneration & Policy Service
Lancaster City Council
Morecambe Town Hall

Marine Road East
Morecambe

LA4 5AF

Mail to:

PO Box 4

Lancaster Town Hall

Lancaster

LA1 1QR

Tel. 01524 582535 or 01524 582340

Email: planningpolicy@lancaster.gov.uk
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